Collective Agreement

between

Ontario Public Service Employees Union

on behalf of its Local 374

and

Mackenzie Health (Service)

DURATION: October 1, 2021 – September 30, 2024





Sector 11

3-374-10152-20240930-11

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE | 1 |
|---|----|
| ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION | 1 |
| ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS | 2 |
| ARTICLE 4 - DEFINITIONS | 3 |
| ARTICLE 5 - NO DISCRIMINATION OR HARASSMENT | 4 |
| ARTICLE 6 - NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT | 5 |
| ARTICLE 7 - UNION SECURITY | 5 |
| ARTICLE 8 - UNION REPRESENTATION AND COMMITTEES | 6 |
| ARTICLE 9 - ACCIDENT PREVENTION - HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE | 9 |
| ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE & ARBITRATION PROCEDURE | 12 |
| ARTICLE 11 – DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE | 16 |
| ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY AND SERVICE | 17 |
| ARTICLE 13 - LAYOFF AND RECALL | 22 |
| ARTICLE 14 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE | 29 |
| ARTICLE 15 - JOB POSTING, PROMOTION AND TRANSFER | |
| ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE | 32 |
| ARTICLE 17 - SICK LEAVE AND LONG-TERM DISABILITY | 37 |
| ARTICLE 18 - HOURS OF WORK & OVERTIME | 40 |
| ARTICLE 19 - STANDBY PAY | 42 |
| ARTICLE 20 - CALL-BACK | 43 |
| ARTICLE 21 - SHIFT AND WEEKEND PREMIUMS | 43 |
| ARTICLE 22 - TRAINING | 44 |
| ARTICLE 23 - RESPONSIBILITY PAY | 44 |
| ARTICLE 24 – NO PYRAMIDING | 45 |
| ARTICLE 25 - PAID HOLIDAYS | 45 |
| ARTICLE 26 - VACATIONS | 46 |
| | |

| ARTICLE 27- HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS | 49 |
|---|--------------|
| ARTICLE 28 - CONTRACTING OUT | 51 |
| ARTICLE 29 - COMPENSATION | 51 |
| ARTICLE 30 - GENERAL | 53 |
| ARTICLE 31 – PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY | 54 |
| ARTICLE 32 - DURATION AND RENEWAL | |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 57 |
| RE: PART-TIME CONVERSION FOR SERVICE AND SENIORITY | 57 |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | |
| RE: JOB SHARING | |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 60 |
| RE: UNION RESOURCES | 60 |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 61 |
| RE: LOCAL HEALTH INTEGRATION NETWORKS | 61 |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 62 |
| RE: CODE OF CONDUCT | 62 |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 63 |
| RE: RPN WAGE RATES | 63 |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 64 |
| RE: BILL 124 | 64 |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 65 |
| RE: STAFF SCHEDULING | 65 |
| LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING | 66 |
| RE: GENDER NEUTRAL LANGUAGE | 66 |
| MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT-WITH RESPECT TO EXTENDED TOUR ARE | RANGEMENTS67 |
| APPENDIX "A" | 69 |
| WORKLOAD REVIEW FORM | 69 |

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE

1.01 The general purpose of this Agreement is to establish and maintain collective bargaining relations between Hospital and the employees covered by this Agreement; to provide for on-going means of communication between the Union and the Hospital and the prompt disposition of grievances and the final settlement of disputes and to establish and maintain mutually satisfactory salaries, hours of work and other conditions of employment in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

It is recognized that employees wish to work together with the Hospital to secure the best possible care and health protection for patients.

ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION

2.01 The Hospital recognizes the Union as the bargaining agent for all employees of the Mackenzie, save and except supervisors, persons above the rank of supervisor, professional medical staff, graduate, undergraduate and registered nurses, paramedical employees, office and clerical staff, security personnel and employees in bargaining units for which any trade union held bargaining rights as of October 25, 2004.

The following classifications are excluded from the bargaining unit: Control Equipment/Quality Coordinator, Senior Technical Specialist, Ultra sonographer, Echocardiography, Registered Technologist (Nuclear CT, Mamo, X-Ray, Laboratory), Clinical Chemist, Technical Specialist, Cytotechnologist, ECG Technician (Cardiac Tech-Stress Testing), lab Assistant, EEG Technologist, Registered Polysomongraph Technologist, Biomedical Technician, Dietician, Diet Technician, Early Childhood Educator (ECE). Health Records Technician, Systems Operation Support, Systems Application Trainer, Coordinator Library Services, Pharmacist, Pharmacy Technician, Pharmacy Intern, Social Worker-MSW, Clinical Practice Leader, Research Utilization Coordinator, Discharge Planning Coordinator, Clinical Dietician, Social Worker-BSW, Recreation Therapist, Recreation Assistant, Coordinator Adult Day Program, Behavioural Consultant, Dialysis Technologist, Dialysis Technician, Sexual Assault Counsellor, Registered Orthopaedic Technologist, Psychologist, Psychometrist, Therapist-MA, Psychological Associate, Crisis Outreach Worker, Child and Youth Worker, Occupational Therapist, Behavioural Management Consultant, Instructor Therapists, Equipment/Supplies Coordinator.

ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 3.01 The Union recognizes that the management of the Hospital and the direction of the employees are fixed exclusively with the Hospital and shall remain solely with the Hospital except as specifically limited by the provisions of this Agreement, and without restricting the generality of the fore going, the Union acknowledges that it is the exclusive function of the Hospital to:
 - to maintain order, discipline, efficiency and in connection therewith to establish and enforce reasonable rules and regulations, provided that the rules shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement;
 - (b) to hire, transfer, lay-off, recall, promote, demote, classify, assign duties, discharge, suspend or otherwise discipline employees who have completed their probationary period for just cause, provided that a claim of discriminatory transfer, promotion, demotion of classification or a claim that an employee who has completed their probationary period has been discharged or disciplined without just cause, may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with as hereinafter provided. The discharge of a probationary employee shall be solely at the discretion of the Hospital;
 - (c) to have the right to plan, direct and control the work of the employees and the operations of the Hospital. This includes the right to introduce new and improved methods, facilities, equipment, and to control the amount of supervision necessary, the planning or splitting up of departments, work schedules, and the increase or reduction of personnel in a particular area or overall.
 - (d) The Hospital recognizes that the rights described in the Article shall be exercised in a manner consistent with all provisions of the Collective Agreement.
- 3.02 There shall be no written or verbal agreements with any employees that are contrary to this Collective Agreement, without the consultation of the Union.

ARTICLE 4 - DEFINITIONS

- 4.01 Whenever the feminine pronoun is used in this Agreement, it includes the masculine pronoun and vice versa where the context so requires. Where the singular is used, it may also be deemed to mean plural and vice versa.
- 4.02 A "full-time employee" is an employee who is on average regularly scheduled one hundred and fifty (150) hours in a four (4) week period.
- A "regular part-time employee" is an employee who makes a commitment to the Hospital to be available and is regularly scheduled for less than one hundred and fifty (150) hours in a four (4) week period.

When making a commitment to the Hospital, a regular part-time employee must be available to work at a minimum;

- (i) Sixty (60) hours in a four week period as scheduled by the Hospital;
- (ii) Work two (2) out of four (4) weekends as required by the Department;
- (iii) Available to work on statutory holidays as required by the Department;
- (iv) Work days and/or evenings and/or nights as required by the department;
- (v) Work either during the Christmas period (December 24-26) or New Years' period (December 3I - January 2).
- 4.04 A 'casual' employee is an employee who is employed on a relief or replacement basis and is reasonably available for call-ins as circumstances require. Casual staff may not be scheduled on a regular basis for more than twenty-four (24) hours per month unless they are filling a 'temporary' vacancy, as defined in this Article or covering for a vacation leave.

Casual employees who are not available within a three (3) month period or who have refused shifts and have not worked within a three (3) month period, unless on an approved leave of absence, may be terminated at the discretion of the Hospital. 4.05 A 'temporary' employee is an employee hired for a specified term not to exceed eighteen (18) months, to replace a permanent employee who is on an approved leave of absence, absence due to WSIB disability, sick leave, long term disability or to perform a special non-recurring task. The parties may agree to extend this time period if necessary.

The release or discharge of such an employee shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration.

This clause would not preclude such employees from using the job posting provision under the collective agreement, however and employee with more than six (6) months remaining in their temporary term need not be considered. Any successful applicant who has completed their probation period will be credited with the appropriate seniority.

The Hospital will outline to employees selected to fill such temporary vacancies and the Union, the circumstances giving rise to the vacancy, and the special conditions relating to such employment.

ARTICLE 5 - NO DISCRIMINATION OR HARASSMENT

- 5.01 The Hospital and the Union agree that there will be no discrimination, interference, intimidation, restriction or coercion exercised or practised by any of their representatives with respect to any employee because of their membership or non-membership in the Union or activity or lack of activity on behalf of the Union or by reason of exercising their rights under the Collective Agreement.
- 5.02 It is agreed that there will be no discrimination by either party or by any of the employees covered by this Agreement on the basis of grounds prohibited by s.5 (1) of the Ontario Human Rights Code.
- 5.03 Every employee who is covered by this agreement has a right to freedom from harassment in the workplace in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code.
- 5.04 The Hospital and the Union recommend and encourage any employee who may have an abuse, harassment, or bullying complaint to follow the complaints process as set out in the Employer's policies and procedures.

- 5.05 In recognizing the importance of a harassment free environment, these policies and processes with respect to abuse, harassment and bullying will be reviewed with employees during their orientation period.
- 5.06 At no time will a person reporting an incident suffer reprisals as a result of their having brought forward a complaint in good faith.

ARTICLE 6 - NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

6.01 The Union agrees there shall be no strikes and the Hospital agrees there shall be no lockouts so long as this Agreement continues to operate. The terms "strike" and "lockout" shall bear the meaning given them in the *Ontario Labour Relations Act*.

ARTICLE 7 - UNION SECURITY

7.01 The Hospital will deduct from each employee in the bargaining unit an amount equal to the regular monthly union dues designated by the Union. The amount of regular monthly dues shall be as certified to the Hospital by the Treasurer of the Union from time to time. The Hospital agrees that it shall deduct union dues from any retroactive wage payments. The amounts so deducted shall be remitted by the Hospital to the Union's Accounting Department no later than the 15th of the month following the month in which such deductions were made. In consideration of the deducting and forwarding of union dues by the Hospital, the Union agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Hospital against any claims or liabilities arising or resulting from the operation of this Article.

7.02 <u>T4 Slips</u>

The Hospital will provide each employee with a T-4 supplementary slip showing the dues deducted in the previous year.

7.03 Notification to Union

The Hospital will provide the Union with a list, monthly of all new hires, lay-offs, recalls, status changes and positions which have been vacated within the bargaining unit where such information is available or becomes readily available through the Hospital's payroll system.

7.04 Union Orientation

A new employee will have the opportunity to meet with a representative of the Union in the employ of the Hospital for a period of up to 15 minutes during the employee's orientation period without loss of regular earnings. The purpose of the meeting will be to acquaint the employee with such representation of the Union and the collective agreement. Such meetings may be arranged collectively or individually for employees by the Hospital as part of the orientation program.

ARTICLE 8 - UNION REPRESENTATION AND COMMITTEES

8.01 <u>Union Stewards</u>

The Hospital agrees to recognize Union stewards to be elected or appointed from amongst employees in the bargaining unit who have completed their probationary period for the purpose of dealing with Union business as provided under this Collective Agreement.

A Chief Steward or designate may assist in the presentation of any grievance or with any steward function.

It is agreed that Union stewards have their regular duties and responsibilities to perform for the Hospital and shall not leave their regular duties without first obtaining permission from their immediate supervisor. If, in the performance of their duties, a Union steward is required to enter an area within the Hospital where they are not originally employed, they shall report their presence to the supervisor in the area immediately upon entering it. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. When resuming their regular duties and responsibilities, such steward shall again report to their immediate supervisor. A Union steward shall suffer no loss of earnings for time spent in performing the above duties during their regular scheduled working hours.

Nothing in this Article shall preclude full-time stewards from representing part-time employees and vice-versa.

The Hospital agrees to recognize twenty-five (25) stewards, including all executive members-

8.02 <u>Grievance Committee</u>

The Hospital will recognize a grievance committee comprising of three (3) Union members to be elected or appointed from the bargaining unit. The purpose of the committee is to deal with grievances as set out in this Collective Agreement.

Notwithstanding the above, not more than two (2) Grievance Committee member shall attend a grievance meeting at any one time.

8.03 Labour/Management Committee

The parties mutually agree that there are matters that would be beneficial if discussed at a Labour-Management Committee Meeting during the term of this Agreement. The Committee shall be comprised of three (3) Union representatives and three (3) Hospital representatives. The Committee shall meet at a time and place mutually satisfactory. The Committee shall meet once every two (2) months, unless agreed otherwise.

A request for a meeting hereunder will be made in writing at least seven (7) days prior to the date proposed and accompanied by an agenda of matters proposed to be discussed.

The purpose of the Committee includes, but shall not be limited to:

- (i) Promoting and providing effective and meaningful communication of information and ideas;
- Dealing with complaints referred to the Committee in accordance with the provisions of Letter of Understanding Workload;
- (iii) Dealing with future emergency situations of an unexpected nature that may challenge the Hospitals ability to deliver safe healthcare and requires a temporary change to the Hospital's normal operating procedures.
- (iv) Reviewing the number of hours worked by Casual staff. The Hospital shall provide a report of hours worked by Casual staff broken down by department or unit every six (6) months.

8.04 <u>Negotiating Committee</u>

The Hospital agrees to recognize a negotiating committee comprised of seven (7) hospital employee representatives of the Union for the purpose of negotiating a renewal agreement. The Hospital agrees to pay members of the negotiating committee for straight time wages lost from their regularly scheduled working hours spend in direct negotiations for a renewal agreement, up to and including conciliation. Nothing in this provision is intended to preclude the Union negotiating committee from having the assistance of any representatives of the Ontario Public Service Employees Union when negotiating with the Hospital.

When direct negotiations begin or end within ten (10) hours of a negotiating team member's scheduled shift, the Hospital will endeavour to provide a one day's leave of absence without pay, provide a sufficient rest break if the employee so requests. Such request shall not be unreasonably denied. Such leave shall be considered leave of absence for union business, but shall not be deducted from the Union entitlement.

The Negotiating Committee shall have the right to attend meetings held within working hours in order to prepare amendments for the next Agreement up to a maximum of three (3) days per member. Reasonable notice is to be provided to the Hospital and approval will be conditional on operational needs. This time is to be paid by the Union.

8.05 <u>List of Union Representatives</u>

The OPSEU Local President agrees to provide and maintain an up-to-date list of all Union Representatives (including Union Stewards, Union Executive, Grievance Committee, Labour/Management Committee, Health and Safety Committee, and Negotiating Committee) to the Director of Human Resources or designate. The Local President shall notify the Hospital in writing of any changes to the list as they occur.

8.06 The Hospital will recognize one (1) representative of the Union to attend meetings of the Fiscal Advisory Committee. The employee will suffer no loss of earnings for attending such meetings.

8.07 Union Activity on Premises and/or Access to Premises

The Union agrees that neither it, nor its officers, agents, representatives and members will engage the holding of meetings or any other Union activities on Hospital premises or on Hospital time without the prior approval of the Hospital, except as specifically provided for in this Agreement. Such approval will not be unreasonably denied.

ARTICLE 9 - ACCIDENT PREVENTION - HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE

- 9.01 The Hospital and the Union agree that they mutually desire to maintain standards of safety and health in the Hospital in order to prevent accidents, injury and illness.
- 9.02 Recognizing its responsibilities under the applicable legislation, the Hospital agrees to accept as a member of its Accident Prevention -Health and Safety Committee, two (2) representative selected or appointed by the Union from amongst bargaining unit employees.
- 9.03 Such Committee shall identify potential dangers and hazards, institute means of improving health and safety programmes and recommend actions to be taken to improve conditions related to safety and health.
- 9.04 The Hospital agrees to co-operate reasonably in providing necessary information to enable the Committee to fulfil its functions.
- 9.05 Meetings shall be held every second month or more frequently at the call of the chair, if required. The Committee shall maintain minutes of all meetings and make the same available for review.
- 9.06 Any representative appointed or selected in accordance with Article 9.02 hereof, shall serve for a term of at least one (1) calendar year from the date of appointment. Time off for such representative(s) to attend meetings of the Accident Prevention Health and Safety Committee in accordance with the foregoing, shall be granted.

A member of a committee is entitled to:

(a) one (1) hour or such longer period of time as the committee determines is necessary to prepare for each committee meeting; and

- (b) such time as is necessary to attend meetings of the committee; and
- (c) such time as is necessary to carry out inspections and investigations contemplated under subsection 9(26), 9(27), and 9(31) of the Occupational Health and Safety Act, R.S.O. 1990 as amended from time to time.

A member of a committee shall be deemed to be at work during the times described above and the members Hospital shall pay the member for those times at the member's regular or premium rate as may be proper.

9.07 The Union agrees to endeavour to obtain the full cooperation of its membership in the observation of all safety rules and practices.

9.08 Influenza Vaccine

The parties agree that influenza vaccinations may be beneficial for patients and hospital employees. Upon a recommendation pertaining to a facility or a specifically designated area(s) thereof from the Medical Officer of Health or in compliance with applicable provincial legislation, the following rules will apply:

- (i) Employees shall, subject to the following, be required to be vaccinated for influenza.
- (ii) If the full cost of such medication is not covered by some other source, the Hospital will pay the full incremental cost for the vaccine and will endeavour to offer vaccinations during an employee's working hours. In addition, employees will be provided with information, including risks and side effects, regarding the vaccine.
- (iii) If an employee refuses to take the vaccine required under this provision, they may be placed on an unpaid leave of absence during any influenza outbreak in the hospital until such time as the employee is cleared to return to work. If an employee is placed on unpaid leave, they can use banked lieu time or vacation credits in order to keep their pay whole.
- (iv) If an employee refuses to take the vaccine because it is medically contraindicated, and where a medical certificate is provided to this effect, they will be reassigned during the outbreak period, unless such reassignment is not possible, in which case the employee will be paid. It is further agreed

that such reassignment will not adversely impact the scheduled hours of other employees.

- (v) If an employee gets sick as a result of the vaccination, and applies for WSIB, the Hospital will not oppose the claim.
- (vi) Notwithstanding the above, the Hospital may offer the vaccine on a voluntary basis to employees free of charge.
- (vii) This clause shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with the Ontario Human Rights Code.

9.09 <u>Violence Prevention</u>

The Hospital and the union agree that they have a shared goal of a workplace free of violence. To that end, the local parties will determine appropriate solutions to promote health and safety in workplaces, including, but not limited to:

- Violence in the Workplace (including Verbal Abuse)
- In particular, the parties will consider appropriate measures to address violence in the workplace, which may include, among other remedies:
- Electronic and visual flagging;
- Properly trained security who can de-escalate, immobilize and detain/restrain;
- Appropriate personal alarms;
- Organizational wide risk assessments assessing environment, risk from patient population, acuity, communication, and work flow and individual client assessments; and
- Training in de-escalation, "break-free" and safe immobilization/detainment/restraint

"Workplace violence" means,

 The exercise of physical force by a person against a worker, in a workplace, that causes or could cause physical injury to the worker,

- (b) An attempt to exercise physical force against a worker, in a workplace, that could cause physical injury to the worker, and
- (c) A statement or behavior that is reasonable for a worker to interpret as a threat to exercise physical force against the worker, in a workplace, that could cause physical injury to the worker.

9.10 Early Return to Work/Modified Work

The Hospital and the Union are committed to a consistent, fair approach to meeting the needs of injured/ill workers, to restoring them to work which is meaningful for them and valuable to the Hospital, and to meeting the parties' responsibilities under relevant legislation. To that end, the Hospital and the Union agree to cooperate in facilitating the return to work of injured/ill employees as quickly as possible. Where an employee requests the assistance and support of the Union, such representation shall be allowed. The Bargaining Unit President will keep the Occupational Health Department informed as to the designated Union stewards.

ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE & ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

- 10.01 Employees shall have the right, upon request, to the presence of a Union Steward at any stage of the grievance procedure, including the complaint stage, or at any time when formal discipline is imposed. The Hospital agrees that it will not discipline an employee without just cause. Where the Hospital deems it necessary to suspend or discharge an employee, the Hospital shall notify the Union, in writing, of such suspension or discharge.
- 10.02 For purposes of this Agreement, a grievance is defined as a difference arising between the parties relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the Agreement including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable. The parties agree to utilize an electronic version of the grievance form where possible.
- 10.03 It is the mutual desire of the parties hereto that complaints of employees shall be addressed as quickly as possible, and it is understood that an employee has no grievance until they have first given their immediate supervisor the opportunity of addressing their complaint. The grievor may have the assistance of a union steward if they so desire. Such complaint shall be discussed with their immediate supervisor within nine (9) calendar days after the

circumstances giving rise to it having occurred or ought reasonably to have come to the attention of the employee. This complaint must be provided in writing to the immediate supervisor on the worker complaint form where possible. Failing settlement within nine (9) calendar days, it shall then be taken up as a grievance within nine (9) calendar days following their immediate supervisor's decision in the following manner:

<u>Step 1</u>

The Employee, who may be accompanied by a steward, may submit a written grievance signed by the employee to the Department Head. The grievance shall identify the nature of the grievance and the remedy sought and should identify the provisions of the Agreement which are alleged to be violated. The Union and the Hospital shall meet to discuss the grievance at a time and place suitable to both parties. Such meeting to occur within nine (9) calendar days of the receipt of the grievance by the Department Head. The Department Head will deliver their decision in writing within nine (9) calendar days following the day on which the grievance meeting was held. Failing settlement or response, then:

Step 2

Within nine (9) calendar days following the decision in Step 1, the grievance may be submitted in writing to the Director of Human Resources. A meeting will then be held between the Director of H.R. or designate, the grievor and their representatives(s) within nine (9) calendar days of the submission of the grievance at Step 2. It is understood and agreed that the Staff Representative from OPSEU may be present at such meeting. The decision of the Hospital shall be delivered in writing within nine (9) calendar days following the date of such meeting.

10.04 Policy Grievance

A grievance arising directly between the Hospital and the Union concerning the interpretation, application or alleged violation of the Agreement shall be originated at Step Two within fourteen (14) calendar days following the circumstances giving rise to the grievance.

It is expressly understood, however, that the provisions of this Article may not be used with respect to a grievance directly affecting an employee which they could have instituted themselves and the regular grievance procedure shall not be thereby bypassed. Where the grievance is a Hospital grievance it shall be filed with the Local Union President or designate.

10.05 <u>Group Grievance</u>

Where a number of employees have identical grievances and each one would be entitled to grieve separately, they may present a group grievance in writing through the Local Union, signed by each employee who is grieving and the Local Union President, at Step Two of the process, within fourteen (14) calendar days after the circumstances giving rise to the grievance have occurred. The grievance shall then be treated in the manner as set out for an individual grievance.

10.06 <u>Discharge Grievance</u>

The release of a probationary employee be at the discretion of the Hospital and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure unless the probationary employee is released for reasons which are arbitrary, discriminatory or in bad faith.

The Hospital agrees that it will not discharge, without just cause, an employee who has completed their probationary period. A claim by an employee who has completed their probationary period that they have been unjustly discharged shall be treated as a grievance. Such grievances shall originate at Step Two within seven (7) calendar days after the date the discharge is effective. Such grievances may be settled by:

- (a) confirming the Hospital's action in dismissing the employee, or
- (b) reinstating the employee with or without loss of seniority and with or without full compensation for the time lost, or
- (c) any other arrangement which may be deemed just and equitable.
- 10.07 Failing settlement under the foregoing procedure, any grievance, including a question as to whether the grievance is arbitrable, may be submitted to arbitration as herein provided. If no written request for arbitration is received within fourteen (14) calendar days after the decision under the foregoing procedure is given, the grievance shall be deemed to have been abandoned.

- 10.08 All agreements reached under the grievance procedure between the representatives of the Hospital, the representatives of the Union and the grievor(s) will be final and binding upon the parties.
- 10.09 When either party requests that any matter be submitted to arbitration as provided in this Article, it shall make such request in writing addressed to the other party to this Agreement, and at the same time appoint a nominee. Within seven (7) calendar days thereafter, the other party shall appoint its nominee, provided however, that if such party fails to appoint its nominee as herein required, the Minister of Labour for the Province of Ontario shall have the power to make such appointment upon application thereto by the party invoking the arbitration procedure. The two nominees shall attempt to agree upon a Chair of the Arbitration Board. If they are unable to agree upon such a Chair within a period of fourteen (14) calendar days, they shall then request the Ministry of Labour for the Province of Ontario to appoint a Chair.
- 10.10 No person may be appointed as an arbitrator who has been involved in an attempt to negotiate or settle the grievance, unless otherwise agreed by the parties.
- 10.11 No matter may be submitted to arbitration which has not been properly carried through all requisite steps of the grievance procedure.
- 10.12 The Arbitration Board shall not be authorized to make any decision inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, or to alter, modify, add to or amend any part of this Agreement.
- 10.13 The proceedings of the Arbitration Board will be expedited by the parties. The decision of the majority, and where there is no majority, the decision of the Chair, will be final and binding upon the parties hereto and the employee(s).
- 10.14 Each of the parties will bear the expense of its nominee, and the parties will share equally the fees and expenses of the Chair of the Arbitration Board.
- 10.15 The time limits set out in this Article are mandatory and failure to comply strictly with such time limits, except by the written agreement of the parties, shall result in the grievance being deemed to have been abandoned.
- 10.16 Where an arbitration board is referred to in the Agreement, the parties may mutually agree in writing to substitute a single

arbitrator for the Arbitration Board at the time of reference to arbitration and the other provisions referring to arbitration board shall appropriately apply.

10.17 Notwithstanding the time limits as set out herein, in the interest of bringing the matter to an expeditious conclusion, where the decision or response is provided in less than the number of days provided above, any subsequent response will measure from the receipt of the response.

ARTICLE 11 – DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

- 11.01 Any letter of reprimand or suspension will be removed from the record of an employee eighteen (18) months following the receipt by the employee of such letter or suspension provided that the employee's record has been discipline free for such eighteen (18) month period. Any leave of absence in excess of thirty (30) continuous calendar days will not count towards either period referenced above.
- 11.02 Each employee shall have reasonable access to their file for the purposes of reviewing any evaluations, letters of counselling or formal disciplinary notations contained therein. Such review shall take place in the presence of the Hospital. A copy of the above documents will be provided to the employee on request. An employee is entitled to place a written response to letters of counselling in their file.

Any evaluations, letters of counselling or formal disciplinary notations shall not be placed in the employee's file unless a copy has been given to the employee.

The Hospital will endeavour to encourage employees to acknowledge, in writing, receipt of any such documentation.

11.03 When an Employee is to be disciplined (i.e., documented verbal warning, written warning, suspension, or discharge), such discipline shall only be imposed at a meeting with the Employer specifically convened for this purpose. An Employee shall have the right to be accompanied by a union representative where a formal written, suspension or discharge is to be discussed. A copy of any disciplinary letter shall be provided to the Union within three (3) days of such a meeting. A copy of the discipline shall be placed in the Employee's employment file.

ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY AND SERVICE

12.01 Newly hired employees shall be considered to be on probations for a period of sixty (60) tours worked from date of last hire (450 hours of work for employees whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day). If retained after the probationary period, the employee shall be credited with seniority from date of last hire. Where it is determined that an extension to probation may be required, such recommended extension shall be discussed with the Local President and the worker.

> It is understood and agreed that any extension to the probationary period will not exceed an additional sixty (60) tours (450 hours of work for employees whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) worked or such lesser period as may be agreed by the parties. The release of a probationary employee shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration.

12.02 <u>Seniority List</u>

- (a) The Hospital shall maintain a seniority list showing each employee's accumulated seniority. The seniority list for part-time employees will be displayed in hours worked.
- (b) A seniority list shall be submitted to the Union and posted on the Union bulletin board by January 31st and July 31st of each year.
- (c) Employees will have thirty (30) calendar days to review the seniority list to verify the accuracy. If no complaint is received during this period, the seniority list will be deemed to be correct up to the date of posting.

12.03 Seniority and Service Accumulation

Full-time employees will accumulate seniority on the basis of their continuous service in the bargaining unit from the last date of hire, except as otherwise provided herein.

Part-time employees, including casual employees, will accumulate seniority on the basis on one (1) year for each one thousand seven hundred and twenty five (1725) hours worked in the bargaining unit as of the last date of hire, except as otherwise provided herein.

(Note: See L.O.U. - Part-time conversion for service and seniority.)

A part-time employee cannot accrue more than one (1) year's seniority in a twelve (12) month period.

No calculation on conversion of service or seniority shall result in the employee's service or seniority date preceding the employee's last date of hire.

Seniority will operate on a bargaining unit wide basis.

Notwithstanding the above, employees hired prior to the date of certification with OPSEU will be credited with the seniority they held prior to that date on the basis of the formula above and will thereafter accumulate seniority in accordance with this Article.

12.04 Transfer of Seniority and Service

For application of seniority for purposes of promotion, demotion, transfer, layoff and recall and service (including meeting any waiting period or other entitlement requirements) for purposes of vacation entitlement, HOODIP or equivalent, and wage progression:

- an employee whose status is changed from full-time to part-time shall receive full credit for their seniority and service on the basis of one (1) year for each 1725 (one thousand and seven hundred and twenty-five) hours worked.
- (ii) an employee whose status is changed from part-time to full-time shall receive credit for their seniority and service on the basis of one (1) year for each 1725 (one thousand and seven hundred and twenty-five) hours worked.

Note: See L.O.U. – Part time conversion for service and seniority.)

12.05 Effect of Absence - Applicable to Full-Time Employees

 (a) (i) It is understood that during an approved unpaid absence not exceeding thirty (30) continuous days or any approved absence paid by the Hospital, both seniority and service will accrue.

During an unpaid absence exceeding thirty (30) continuous calendar days, credit for service for purposes of salary increments, vacation, sick leave, or any other benefit under any provision of the

Collective Agreement or elsewhere, shall be suspended; the benefits concerned appropriately reduced on a pro rata basis and the employee's anniversary date adjusted accordingly.

In addition, the employee will become responsible for full payment of subsidized employee benefits in which they are participating for the period of the absence. The employee may arrange with the Hospital to prepay the full premium of any applicable subsidized benefits in which they are participating during the period of leave in excess of thirty (30) continuous days to ensure continuing coverage.

It is further understood that during such absence, credit for seniority shall be suspended and not accrue during the period of absence. Notwithstanding this provision, seniority shall accrue for a period of thirty (30) months if an employee's absence is due to disability resulting in WCB or LTD benefits.

(ii) Notwithstanding Article 12.05 (a) (i), credits for service and seniority shall accumulate for a period of up to seventeen (17) weeks while an employee is on pregnancy leave. The Hospital will continue to pay its share of the contributions of the subsidized employee benefits, including pension, in which the employee is participating for a period of up to seventeen (17) weeks while the employee is on pregnancy leave, unless the employee does not intend to pay their contributions.

> Credits for service and seniority shall accumulate for a period of up to sixty-one (61) weeks after the parental leave began, if the employee also took pregnancy leave, and sixty-three (63) weeks after the parental leave began otherwise, while the employee is on parental leave. The Hospital will continue to pay its share of the premiums of the subsidized employee benefits, including pension, in which the employee is participating for a period of up to sixtyone (61) weeks after the parental leave began, if the employee also took pregnancy leave, and sixty-three (63) weeks after the parental leave began otherwise, while the employee is on parental leave, unless the employee does not intend to pay their contributions.

- (b) The Hospital agrees to provide, in response to an employee's request, their service and/or anniversary date.
- (c) Applicable to Part-Time Employees

Part-time employees shall accrue seniority for the duration of the absence, if an employee's absence is due to a disability resulting in WSIB benefit, or a disability in accordance with the Human Rights Code.

Part-time employees shall accrue service for a period of fifteen (15) weeks if absent due to a disability resulting in WSIB benefits on the basis of what the employee's normal regular hours of work would have been.

12.06 <u>Retention & Accumulation of Seniority on Transfer Outside</u> <u>Bargaining Unit</u>

- (a) It is understood than an employee shall not be transferred by the Hospital to a position outside the bargaining unit without their consent except in the case of temporary assignments not exceeding twelve (12) months. This period may be extended further six (6) months upon the agreement of the employee and the Hospital. Such employees on temporary assignments shall remain members of the bargaining unit and would continue to accrue seniority.
- (b) An employee who is transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit shall not, subject to (c) below, accumulate seniority. In the event the employee is returned by the Hospital to a position in the bargaining unit within twenty-four (24) months of the transfer they shall be credited with the seniority held at the time of transfer and resume accumulation from the date of their return to the bargaining unit. An employee not returned to the bargaining unit within twenty-four (24) months shall forfeit bargaining unit seniority.
- (c) In the event an employee transferred out of the bargaining unit under (b) above is returned to the bargaining unit within a period of six (6) calendar months, they shall accumulate seniority during the period of time outside the bargaining unit.

12.07 Loss of Seniority and Service

An employee shall lose all seniority and service and shall be deemed to have terminated if they:

- (a) resigns;
- (b) is discharged and not reinstated through the grievance/arbitration procedure;
- (c) is retired;
- (d) is absent from scheduled work for a period of three (3) or more consecutive working days without notifying the Hospital of such absence and providing to the Hospital a satisfactory reason;
- (e) has been laid off for twenty-four (24) months;
- (f) if the employee has been laid off and fails to return to work within seven (7) calendar days after that employee has been notified by the Hospital through registered mail addressed to the last address on the records of the Hospital, subject to any special provisions regarding temporary vacancies noted under the heading of Layoff and Recall.
- (g) is absent due to illness or disability for a period of thirty (30) months, unless they have less than six (6) months' service at the time the illness or disability commenced and is not eligible for long-term disability benefits. If the employee has less than six months' service at the time the illness or disability commenced and is not eligible for long-term disability benefits, this provision will apply after an absence equal to their length of service at the time the absence commenced.
- (h) Uses a leave of absence, without permission, for a purpose other than the purpose for which the leave was granted.
- (i) Nothing in this article shall contravene the Ontario Human Rights Code.

ARTICLE 13 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

Applies to Full-time and Regular Part-time employees

13.01 (a) <u>Notice</u>

In the event of a proposed layoff at the Hospital of a permanent or long-term nature or the elimination of a position within the bargaining unit, the Hospital shall:

 provide the Union with no less than five (5) months' written notice of the proposed layoff or elimination of position; and

provide to the affected employee(s), if any, who will be laid off with no less than five (5) months' written notice of layoff or pay in lieu thereof.

<u>Note</u>: Where a proposed layoff results in the subsequent displacement of any member(s) of the bargaining unit, the original notice to the Union provided in (i) above shall be considered notice to the Union of any subsequent layoff.

- (b) A layoff shall not include a reassignment of an employee from their classification or area of assignment who would otherwise be entitled to notice of layoff provided:
 - the reassignment of the employee is to an appropriate permanent job with the Hospital having regard to the employees' skills, abilities, qualifications and training or training requirements;
 - the reassignment of the employee does not result in a reduction of the employees wage rate or hours of work;
 - (iii) the job to which the employee is reassigned is located at the employee's original work site or at a nearby site in terms of relative accessibility for the employee;
 - (iv) the job to which the employee is reassigned is on the same or substantially similar shift or shift rotation; and

(v) where more than one employee is to be reassigned in accordance with this provision, the reassigned employees shall be entitled to select from the available appropriate vacancies to which they are being reassigned in order of seniority provided no such selection causes or would cause a layoff or bumping.

> The Hospital bears the onus of demonstrating that the foregoing conditions have been met in the event of a dispute. The Hospital shall also reasonably accommodate any reassigned employee who may experience a personal hardship arising from being reassigned in accordance with this provision.

- (c) Any vacancy to which an employee is reassigned pursuant to paragraph (b) need not be posted.
- (d) <u>Redeployment Committee</u>

A Redeployment Committee will be established not later than two (2) weeks after the notice referred to in Article 13.01(a) and will meet thereafter as frequently as is necessary. Meetings of the Committee will be convened at the request of either party.

(i) <u>Committee Mandate</u>

The mandate of the Redeployment Committee is to:

- (1) Identify and propose possible alternatives to the proposed layoff(s) or elimination of position(s), including, but not limited to, identifying work which would otherwise be bargaining unit work and is currently work contracted-out by the Hospital which could be performed by bargaining-unit employees who are or would otherwise be laid off;
- (2) Identify vacant positions in the Hospital or positions which are currently filled but which will become vacant within a twelve (12) month period and which are either:
 - a. within the bargaining unit; or
 - b. not covered by a collective agreement.

- (3) Identify the retraining needs of workers and facilitate such training for workers who are, or would otherwise be, laid off.
- (4) Subject to article 13.04, the Hospital will award vacant positions to employees who are, or would otherwise be laid off, in order of seniority if, with the benefit of up to six (6) months retraining, an employee has become able to meet the normal requirements of the job.
- (5) Any dispute relating to the foregoing procedures may be filed as a grievance commencing at Step 2.
- (ii) <u>Committee Composition</u>

The Redeployment Committee shall be comprised of four (4) representatives of the Hospital and four (4) representatives of the Union.

Meetings of the Redeployment Committee shall be held during normal working hours. Time spent attending such meetings shall be deemed to be work time for which the representative(s) shall be paid by the Hospital at their regular or premium rate as may be applicable.

Each party shall appoint a co-chair for the Redeployment Committee. Co-chairs shall chair alternative meetings of the Committee and will be jointly responsible for establishing the agenda of the Committee meetings, preparing minutes and writing such correspondence as the Committee may direct.

(iii) <u>Disclosure</u>

The Hospital shall provide to the Redeployment Committee all pertinent staffing and financial information.

13.02 Layoff and Recall

An employee in receipt of notice of layoff pursuant to 13.01(a)(ii) may:

(a) accept the layoff, or

- (b) opt to receive a separation allowance as outlined in Article 13.05; or
- (c) opt to retire, if eligible under the terms of the Hospitals of Ontario Pension Plan (HOOPP); or
- (d) displace another employee who has lesser bargaining unit seniority in the same or a lower or an identical-paying classification in the bargaining unit if the employee originally subject to layoff has the ability to meet the normal requirements of the job. An employee so displaced shall be deemed to have been laid off and shall be entitled to notice in accordance with Article 13.01.

An employee who chooses to exercise the right to displace another employee with lesser seniority shall advise the Hospital of their intention to do so and the position claimed within seven (7) days after receiving the notice of layoff.

<u>Note</u>: For purposes of the operation of clause (d), an identicalpaying classification shall include any classification where the straight-time hourly wage rate at the level of service corresponding to that of the laid off employee is within 1% of the laid off employee's straight time hourly wage rate.

In the event that there are no employees with lesser seniority in the same or a lower or identical-paying classification, as defined in this article, a laid-off employee shall have the right to displace another employee with lesser seniority who is the least senior employee in the classification and where the straight-time hourly rate at the level of service corresponding to that of the employee is within 7% of the laid-off employee's straight-time hourly rate.

An employee who is subject to layoff other than a layoff of a permanent or long-term nature including a full time employee whose hours of work are, subject to Article 18.01, reduced, shall have the right to accept the layoff or displace another employee in accordance with (a) and (d) above.

An employee shall have opportunity of recall from a layoff to an available opening, in order of seniority, provided they have the ability to perform the work before such opening is filled on a regular basis under a job posting procedure. The posting procedure in the collective agreement shall not apply until the recall process has been complete. In determining the ability of an employee to perform the work for the purposes of the paragraphs above, the Hospital shall not act in an arbitrary or unfair manner.

An employee recalled to work in a different classification from which they were laid off shall have the privilege of returning to the position held prior to the layoff should it become vacant within six (6) months of being recalled.

No new employees shall be hired until all those laid off have been given an opportunity to return to work and have failed to do so, in accordance with the loss of seniority provision, or have been found unable to perform the work available.

The Hospital shall notify the employee of recall opportunity by registered mail, addressed to the last address on record with the Hospital (which notification shall be deemed to be received on the second day following the date of mailing). The notification shall state the job to which the employee is eligible to be recalled and the date and time at which the employee shall report for work. The employee is solely responsible for their proper address being on record with the Hospital.

Employees on layoff shall be given preference for temporary vacancies which are expected to exceed ten (10) working days. An employee who has been recalled to such temporary vacancy shall not be required to accept such recall and may instead remain on layoff.

No full-time employee within the bargaining unit shall be laid off by reason of their duties being assigned to one or more part-time employees.

In the event of a layoff of an employee, the Hospital shall pay its share of insured benefits premiums for the duration of the fivemonth notice period provided for in Article 13.01.

13.03 Benefits on Layoff

In the event of a lay-off of an employee, the Hospital shall pay its share of insured benefits premiums up to the end of the month in which the lay-off occurs.

The employee may, if possible under the terms and conditions of the insurance benefits programs, continue to pay the full premium cost of a benefit or benefits for up to three (3) months following the end of the month in which the lay-off occurs. Such payment can be made through the payroll office of the Hospital provided that the employee informs the Hospital of their intent to do so at the time of the lay-off, and arranges with the Hospital the appropriate payment schedule.

13.04 Retraining

(a) <u>Retraining for Positions within the Hospital</u>

Where, with the benefit of retraining of up to six (6) months, an employee who has either accepted the layoff or who is unable to displace any other employee could be redeployed to a hospital position identified by the Redeployment Committee in accordance with Article 13.01(d)(i):

- (i) Opportunities to fill vacant positions identified by the Hospital Redeployment Committee through retraining shall be offered to employees who apply and would qualify for the position with the available retraining in order of their seniority until the list of any such opportunities is exhausted. Opportunities to fill vacancies outside of the bargaining unit may be offered by the Hospital in its discretion.
- (ii) The Hospital and the Union will cooperate so that employees who have received notice of permanent layoff and been approved for retraining in order to prevent a layoff will have their work schedules adjusted in order to enable them to participate in the retraining, and scheduling and seniority requirements may by mutual agreement be waived.
- (iii) Apart from any on-the-job training offered by the Hospital, any employee subject to layoff who may require a leave of absence to undertake retraining in accordance with the foregoing shall be granted an unpaid leave of absence which shall not exceed six (6) months.
- (iv) Laid-off employees who are approved for retraining in order to qualify for a vacant position within the Hospital will continue to receive insured benefits.

(b) Placement

Upon successful completion of their training period, the Hospital and the Union undertake to waive any restrictions

which might otherwise apply, and the employee will be placed in the job identified in Article 13.04(a)(i).

An employee subject to layoff who applies but later declines to accept a retraining offer or fails to complete the training will continue to remain subject to layoff as initially notified.

13.05 <u>Separation Allowances</u>

- (a) Where an employee resigns within thirty (30) days after receiving notice of layoff pursuant to Article 9.08(a)(ii) that their position will be eliminated, they shall be entitled to a separation allowance of two (2) weeks' salary for each year of continuous service to a maximum of twelve (12) weeks' pay, and, on production of receipts from an approved educational program, within twelve (12) months of resignation, may be reimbursed for tuition fees up to a maximum of three thousand (\$3,000) dollars.
- (b) Where an employee resigns later than thirty (30) days after receiving notice pursuant to Article 9.08(a)(ii) that their position will be eliminated, they shall be entitled to a separation allowance of four (4) weeks' salary, and, on production of receipts from an approved educational program, within twelve (12) months of resignation, may be reimbursed for tuition fees up to a maximum of one thousand two hundred and fifty (\$1,250) dollars.

13.06 <u>Retirement Allowances</u>

- (a) Prior to issuing notice of layoff pursuant to article 13.02 in any classification(s), the Hospital will offer early retirement allowance to a sufficient number of employees eligible to early retirement under HOOPP within the classification (s) in order of seniority, to the extent that the maximum number of employees within a classification who elect early retirement is equivalent to the number of employees within the classification(s) who would otherwise receive notice of layoff under article 13.02.
- (b) An employee who elects an early retirement option shall receive, following completion of the last day of work, a retirement allowance of two (2) weeks' salary for each year of service, plus a prorated amount for any additional partial year of service, to a maximum ceiling of fifty-two (52) weeks' salary.

13.07 Voluntary Exit Option

If after making offers of early retirement, individual layoff notices are still required, prior to issuing those notices the Hospital will offer a voluntary early exit option in accordance with the following conditions:

- (i) The Hospital will first make offers in the classifications within the department(s) where layoffs would otherwise occur. If more employees that are required are interested, the Hospital will make its decision based on seniority.
- (ii) If insufficient employees in the department affected accept the offer, the Hospital will then extend the offer to employees in the same classification in other departments. If more employees than are required are interested, the Hospital will make its decision based on seniority.
- (iii) In no case will the Hospital approve an employee's request under (i) and (ii) above for a voluntary exit option, if the employees remaining are not qualified to perform the work.
- (iv) The number of voluntary exit options the Hospital approves will not exceed the number of employees in that classification who would otherwise be laid off. The last day of employment for an employee who accepts a voluntary exit option will be at the Hospital's discretion and will be no earlier than thirty (30) calendar days immediately following the employee's written acceptance of the offer.

An employee who elected a voluntary exit option shall receive, following completion of the last day of work, a separation allowance of two (2) weeks' salary for each year of service, to a maximum of fifty-two (52) weeks' pay.

ARTICLE 14 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

Applies to full-time and regular part-time employees only

14.01 The Hospital undertakes to notify the Union in advance, so far as practicable, of any technological changes which the Hospital has decided to introduce which will significantly change the status of employees within the bargaining unit.

The Hospital agrees to discuss with the Union the effect of such technological changes on the employment status of employees

and to consider practical ways and means of minimizing the adverse effect, if any, upon employees concerned.

14.02 Where new or greater skills are required than are already possessed by affected employees under the present methods of operation, such employees shall be given a period of training, with due consideration being given to the employee's previous educational background, during which they may perfect or acquire the skills necessitated by the newer method of operation. The Hospital will assume the cost of tuition and travel. There shall be no reduction in wage or salary rates during the training period of any such employee. Training shall be given during the hours of work whenever possible and may extend for up to six (6) months.

ARTICLE 15 - JOB POSTING, PROMOTION AND TRANSFER

15.01 Where a permanent vacancy occurs in a classification within the bargaining unit or a new position within the bargaining unit is established by the Hospital, such vacancy shall be posted for a period of seven (7) consecutive calendar days. Applications for such vacancy shall be made in writing within the seven (7) day period referred to herein.

The posting shall occur within one (1) month of the position becoming established. The Hospital is to notify the Local President if the position is being filled in any other manner or if not being filled at this time.

The postings shall stipulate the qualifications, classifications, rate of pay, department or program and shift(s) and a copy shall be provided to the Local President of the Union.

Where the skill, ability, experience and qualifications are relatively equal amongst the employees considered, seniority shall govern providing the successful applicant, if any, is qualified to perform the normal requirements of the job.

Successful employees shall not be considered for other vacancies within a six (6) month period unless an opportunity arises which allows the employee to change their permanent status.

15.02 Vacancies which are not expected to exceed sixty (60) calendar days and vacancies caused due to illness, accident, leaves of absence (excluding maternity leaves) may be filled at the discretion of the Hospital. First consideration shall be given to equally distributing available hours amongst qualified regular parttime employees in the Department. However, where operational needs so dictate, the Hospital may choose to fill such temporary vacancy by following the procedure established in Article 15.01(a).

- 15.03 When a job vacancy occurs within the Hospital, current employees will be given the first opportunity to apply for the position. If the job is offered to the employee in accordance with Article 15.01 and there is a promotion involved, the employee will be placed on the scale as a new employee, provided that there is no reduction in salary; otherwise, they will be placed on the closest step on the new scale.
- 15.04 The successful applicant shall be allowed a trial period of up to thirty (30) days, during which the Hospital will determine if the employee can satisfactorily perform the job. Within this period the employee may voluntarily return, or be returned by the Hospital, to the position formerly occupied, without loss of seniority. The vacancy resulting from the posting may be filled on a temporary basis until the trial period is completed.
- 15.05 The Hospital agrees that it will endeavour to post permanent vacant positions within thirty (30) calendar days from the date in which the position becomes vacant, unless the Hospital provides the Union with notice under Article 13 to eliminate the position.
- 15.06 A list of vacancies filled in the preceding month and the names of the successful applicants will be provided to the Local President.

15.07 <u>Line Selection</u>

In advance of position vacancies being posted, where appropriate, employees within the work unit or department will be granted an opportunity to select the line or shift being vacated, in accordance with the following:

- The line vacancy will be posted or otherwise advertised within the work unit/department for a five (5) day period.
- Employees will indicate their interest to the hiring manager.
- It is understood that line vacancy opportunities will not apply outside of the area of the (unit or department) of the work schedule and not across sites.

- It is understood that line vacancy opportunities will not be utilized to effect a change in employment status (FT, PT, Cas)
- In clinical areas it is understood that selection will be based upon seniority unless the candidate does not possess a skill, knowledge or experience requirement that must be met on the team sharing the rotation.
- In non-clinical areas it is understood that line selection shall apply to the shift (scheduled hours) available.

ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

16.01 <u>Personal Leave</u>

Written requests for a personal leave of absence without pay will be considered on an individual basis by the employee's Supervisor or their designate. Such requests are to be submitted as far in advance as possible and a written reply will be given. Such leave shall not be unreasonably withheld.

16.02 (a) <u>Local Union Business Leave</u>

The Hospital agrees to grant leaves of absence without pay to local bargaining unit members for the purpose of attending Union seminars and/or attending to Union business, provided such leave does not interfere with the efficient operation of the Hospital. There can be no more than two (2) persons off within a department at any one time and the cumulative total leaves of absence shall not exceed fifty (50) days per year.

In requesting such leave of absence, the Union must give at least fourteen (14) days' written notice to the employee's immediate supervisor, copied to the person responsible for scheduling, as well as the Director of Labour Relations or Designate.

Requests consistent with the above shall not be unreasonably denied.

(b) <u>Union Position Leave - F.T.</u>

When an employee is elected as the Union's President (Provincially) or First Vice-President (Provincially) the Union

will immediately following such election, advise the Hospital of the name of the employee so elected. Leave of absence shall be granted from the employee's place of employment for the duration of the current term of office. The Union shall reimburse the Hospital the amounts paid on behalf of the employee, including pay and benefits.

(c) Where an individual of the bargaining unit represented by

OPSEU is elected or appointed as an Executive Board Member (Provincially), such individual shall be granted leave of absence for the time off required to exercise the duties of such appointment. The Hospital will maintain the employee's salary and applicable benefits and the Union will reimburse the Hospital for the cost of salary and benefits. In addition, there will be no loss of seniority during such leaves of absence.

(d) The Local President or designate will be entitled to seven and one-half (7.5) hours off, every other week to conduct local union business. This time off shall be prearranged with the appropriate supervisor, at a mutually agreed time.

16.03 Bereavement Leave

Any employee who notifies their immediate Supervisor as soon as possible following bereavement will be granted bereavement leave for four (4) consecutive working days off without loss of regular pay from regularly scheduled hours within the seven (7) calendar day period following the death of the spouse, child or parent.

An employee who notifies their immediate Supervisor as soon as possible following a bereavement will be granted bereavement leave for three (3) consecutive working days off without loss of regular pay from regularly scheduled hours within the seven (7) calendar day period following the death of the sister, brother, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, brother-in-law, sister-in-law or grandparent of spouse.

An employee who notifies their immediate Supervisor as soon as possible following a bereavement shall be granted one (1) day bereavement leave without loss of regular pay from regularly scheduled hours within the seven (7) calendar day period following the death of their aunt or uncle, niece or nephew, in order to attend the funeral. Clarity note: "Aunt" and "Uncle" refer to the sibling of one's parent or the spouse of a sibling of one's parent.

The Hospital, in its discretion, may extend such leave with or without pay. Where an employee does not qualify under the above-noted conditions, the Hospital may, nonetheless, grant a leave of absence with or without pay. For the purpose of bereavement leave, the relationships specified in the preceding clause are deemed to include a common-law spouse and a partner of the same sex.

16.04 Jury and Witness Duty

If an employee is requested to serve as a juror in any court of law or is required by subpoena to attend as a witness in a court proceeding in which the Crown is a party, or is required to attend a coroner's inquest in connection with a case concerning the Hospital, the employee shall not lose regular pay because of necessary absence from work due to such attendance, and shall not be required to work on the day of such duty, provided that the employee:

- informs the Hospital immediately upon being notified that the employee will be required to attend court or the coroner's inquest;
- (b) presents proof of service requiring the employee's attendance; and
- (c) promptly repays the Hospital the amount (other than expenses) paid to the employee for such service as a juror or for attendance as such witness.

(Applicable to full-time employees)

In addition to the foregoing, where an employee is required by subpoena to attend a Court of Law or Coroner's Inquest, in connection with a case arising from the employee's duties at the Hospital, on their regularly scheduled day off or during their regularly scheduled vacation, the Hospital will attempt to reschedule the employee's regular day off or vacation period, it being understood that any rescheduling shall not result in the payment of any premium pay. If the Hospital fails to reschedule such employees, the Hospital shall arrange lieu time off work for all days the employees would otherwise be off work had it not been for the attendance at Court or the Coroner's Inquest.

(Applicable to part-time employees)

In addition to the foregoing, where a part-time employee is required by subpoena to attend a court of law or Coroner's inquest, in connection with a case arising from the employee's duties at the Hospital, on their regularly scheduled day off, they shall receive regular pay as if they had been scheduled to work the day.

16.05 Pregnancy and Parental Leave

Pregnancy and parental leaves will be granted in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act* unless otherwise amended.

The Employee shall give written notification at least four (4) weeks in advance of the intended date of commencement and anticipated duration of leave.

The employee shall confirm their return to work date in writing at least four (4) weeks in advance.

(a) Pregnancy Leave - SUB

A full-time or regular part-time employee who is on pregnancy leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance pregnancy benefits pursuant to Section 12 of the *Employment Insurance Act* shall be paid a supplemental unemployment benefit for a period not exceeding fifteen (15) weeks. The supplement shall be equivalent to the difference between ninety-three percent (93%) of their normal weekly earnings and the sum of their weekly unemployment insurance benefits and any other earnings. Receipt by the Hospital of the employee's unemployment insurance cheque stubs shall constitute proof that they are in receipt of Employment Insurance pregnancy benefits.

The employee's normal weekly earnings shall be determined by multiplying their regular hourly rate on their last day worked prior to the commencement of the leave times their normal weekly hours plus any wage increase or salary increment that they would be entitled to receive if they were not on pregnancy leave.

The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The plan provides that payment in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration

or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

Where an employee elects to receive parental leave benefits pursuant to Section 12(3)(b)(ii) of the *Employment Insurance Act*, the amount of any Supplemental Unemployment Benefit payable to the Hospital will be equal to what would have been payable had the employee elected to receive parental leave benefits pursuant to Section 12(3)(b)(i) of the *Employment Insurance Act*.

(b) Parental Leave - SUB

A full-time or regular part-time employee who is on parental leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance parental benefits pursuant to Section 12 of the *Employment Insurance Act*, shall be paid a supplemental unemployment benefit for a period not exceeding ten (10) weeks. That benefit shall be equivalent to the difference between ninety-three percent (93%) of the employee's normal weekly earnings and the sum of their weekly Employment Insurance benefits and any other earnings. Receipt by the Hospital of the employee's employment insurance cheque stub will serve as proof that the employee is in receipt of unemployment parental benefits.

The employee's normal weekly earnings shall be determined by multiplying the employee's regular hourly rate on their last day worked prior to the commencement of the leave times the employee's normal weekly hours, plus any wage increase or salary increment that the employee would be entitled to if they were not on parental leave.

The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The plan provides that payment in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

Where an employee elects to receive parental leave benefits pursuant to Section 12(3)(b)(ii) of the *Employment Insurance Act*, the amount of any Supplemental Unemployment Benefit payable to the Hospital will be equal to what would have been payable had the employee elected to receive parental leave benefits pursuant to Section 12(3)(b)(i) of the *Employment Insurance Act*.

16.06 <u>Education Leave</u>

If required by the Hospital, an employee shall be entitled to leave of absence with pay and with full credit for service and seniority and benefits to take courses and to write examinations to upgrade their employment qualifications. Where employees are required by the Hospital to take courses to upgrade or acquire new employment qualifications, the Hospital shall pay the full costs associated with the courses. Where an employee is hired conditionally upon completion of training or certification identified by the Hospital as required, attainment of such training or certification within the time limits specified shall not be at any cost to the Hospital.

Subject to operational requirements, the Hospital will make every reasonable effort to grant requests for necessary changes to an employee's schedule to enable attendance at a recognized upgrading course or seminar related to employment with the Hospital.

Subject to operational requirements, the Hospital will make every reasonable effort to grant requests for an employee to take an educational leave without pay and without loss of seniority of up to twelve (12) months for training related to the employee's employment at the Hospital.

ARTICLE 17 - SICK LEAVE AND LONG-TERM DISABILITY

Full-time Employees Only

17.01 Sick Leave Defined

Sick leave means the period of time a full-time employee is permitted to be absent from work by virtue of being sick or disabled.

17.02 Short Term Disability

Full-time employees who have successfully completed their probationary period shall become eligible to participate in the Short

Term Disability (STD) Plan. The STD plan provides income maintenance to employees to a maximum of five hundred and sixty two and one-half (562.50) paid hours in accordance with the table below. No sick pay benefit is payable for the first fifteen (15) hours of absence for the sixth (6th) and subsequent period(s) of absence in the same fiscal year (April 1st, through March 31st).

| Length of Service | Salary Continuance |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 3 months to 1 year | 66 2/3% of regular straight time pay |
| 1 year but less than 2 years | 70% of regular straight time pay |
| 2 years but less than 3 years | 80% of regular straight time pay |
| 3 years but less than 4 years | 90% of regular straight time pay |
| 4 years or more | 100% of regular straight time pay |

17.03 Long Term Disability

Full-time employees who have successfully completed their probationary period shall participate in the Long Term Disability (LTD) Plan. The Hospital will pay seventy five percent (75%) of the billed premium towards coverage of eligible full-time employees under the LTD Plan (as described in the current plan booklet), the employee paying the balance of the billed premium through payroll deduction.

17.04 <u>Medical Certificates</u>

Should the Employer request a doctor's note, any administrative fee incurred from the doctor, shall be paid for by the Employer, upon presentation of the applicable receipt.

Proof of disability (such as a doctor's certificate), that is satisfactory to the employer, is required if you are absent for four (4) days or more, and is subject to a periodic review thereafter. Such proof may also be required at any time in order to qualify for benefits, however, the Employer can not unreasonably request proof of disability.

17.05 <u>Attendance Awareness</u>

Days of absence arising out of a medically-established serious chronic condition, an ongoing course of treatment, a catastrophic event, absence for which WSIB benefits are payable, medically necessary surgical interventions, or days where the employee is asymptomatic and is under a doctor's care from the commencement of symptoms for a confirmed communicable disease (and has provided medical substantiation of such symptoms) but is required to be absent under the Hospital or public health authority protocol, will not be counted for the purposes of being placed on, or progressing through, the steps of an attendance management program. Leaves covered under the *Employment Standards Act, 2000* and leaves under Article *Leaves of Absence* will not be counted for the purposes of being placed on, or progressing through, the steps of an attendance management program.

17.06 Injury Pay

If an employee is injured on the job and their supervisor excuses them from further duty for the balance of their shift, the employee's regular rate of pay shall continue for the balance of the shift and there shall be no deduction from sick leave or other credits.

17.07 Payment Pending Determination of WSIB Claims

An employee who is absent from work as a result of an illness or injury sustained at work and who has been awaiting approval of claim for WSIB benefits for a period longer than the one complete pay period may apply to the Hospital for payment equivalent to the lesser of the benefit they would receive from WSIB benefits if their claim was approved, or the benefit to which they would be entitled under the short term sick leave plan. Payment will be provided only if the employee provides evidence of disability satisfactory to the Hospital and a written undertaking satisfactory to the Hospital that any payments will be refunded to the Hospital following final determination of the claim by the Workplace Safety & Insurance Board. If the claim for WSIB benefits is not approved, the monies paid as an advance will be applied towards the benefits to which the employee would be entitled under the short-term sick leave Any payment under this provision will continue for a plan. maximum of fifteen (15) weeks.

ARTICLE 18 - HOURS OF WORK & OVERTIME

18.01 <u>Lieu Time</u>

Full-time and Regular Part-time employees may elect time off inlieu to be taken on a mutually agreed upon basis between the employee and the Hospital. Such time-off shall be the equivalent of the premium rate the employee earned for working overtime. The Hospital shall revert to payment of premium rate if time off is not taken within ninety (90) calendar days. Employees shall not accumulate more than forty-five (45) hours of lieu time. The Hospital will endeavor to approve all time off requests to utilize lieu time, however where such requests cannot be approved, the limit of ninety (90) days will be extended to accommodate scheduling of the time off requested.

18.02 Full-time employees shall normally be scheduled seventy-five (75) hours on a bi-weekly basis, with a normal or standard work day of seven and one-half (7½) hours per day, exclusive of a one-half (½) hour meal break.

18.03 <u>Rest Periods</u>

Employees shall be entitled, subject to the exigencies of patient care, to relief periods during the shift on the basis of fifteen (15) minutes for each half shift.

18.04 Overtime Definition

Overtime shall be defined as being all authorized hours worked in excess of the normal or standard work day in Article 18.02, or in excess of the normal or standard work week in Article 18.02. The overtime rate shall be one and one-half (1 ½) times the regular straight time hourly rate of pay.

- 18.05 Schedules shall be posted two (2) weeks in advance of commencement covering a four (4) week period.
- 18.06 The Hospital agrees to schedule regular part-time employees according to the following:
 - (a) <u>Part-time Scheduling for all bargaining unit members</u>
 - (i) All regular part-time employees shall be scheduled up to their committed hours, by seniority, before any casual employees are utilized.

- (ii) Where all regular part-time employees have been given the opportunity to work up to their commitment, extra shifts will then be offered, to regular part-time employees, who submit their availability in the manner prescribed by the Hospital in order of seniority.
- (iii) Application of this article is subject to the following conditions:
 - a) A shift will be deemed to be offered whenever a call is placed;
 - b) It is understood that the Hospital will not be required to offer shifts that would result in overtime pay; and
 - c) Where an employee is called in less than two
 (2) hours prior to the commencement of a shift and arrives within one (1) hour of the commencement of the shift, they will be paid for the full shift.
 - d) Where a regular part-time employee accepts an additional shift, they must report for that shift unless arrangements satisfactory to the Hospital are made.

(b) Part-time Scheduling RPN and PCA

- (i) Provided that they are qualified, regular part-time employees may submit their availability to work additional shifts to more than one department, in accordance with Hospital's practice and requirements.
- (ii) Where extra shifts become available, they will first be offered on the basis of seniority and availability to regular part-time employees on the Unit up to their commitment.
- (iii) Where all regular part-time employees have been given the opportunity to work up to their commitment, extra shifts will then be offered, to regular part-time employees in the department who submit their availability in the manner prescribed by the Hospital

- (iv) Where no regular part-time employee is available to work the shift(s) in question, the shift(s) will be offered to casual part-time employees in the department who submit their availability in the manner prescribed by the Hospital in order of seniority.
- 18.07 In the event employees of their own accord wish to exchange scheduled shifts with another employee, the Hospital requires signed acknowledgements from each employee and shall not be responsible or liable for overtime rate claims and non-compliance with the collective agreement provisions that might arise or accrue as a result of the exchange of shifts. The Hospital's approval of such exchanges will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 18.08 It is understood normal hours include those required to accommodate the change from Daylight Savings Time to Standard Time and vice versa to which the other provisions of this Article do not apply. It is further understood that the amount of regular pay for a full normal shift worked shall not be affected by reason of the change in the number of normal hours worked in consequence of such change from Daylight Savings Time to Standard Time and vice versa.

18.09 <u>Reporting Pay</u>

Employees who report for any scheduled shift will be guaranteed at least four (4) hours of work, or if no work is available will be paid at least four (4) hours except when work is not available due to conditions beyond the control of the Hospital. The reporting allowance outlined as herein shall not apply whenever an employee has received prior notice not to report to work. Part-time employees scheduled to work less than seven and one-half (7 $\frac{1}{2}$) hours per day will receive a pro-rated amount of reporting pay.

18.10 Commencing October 1, 2022, where an employee's scheduled shift is changed or cancelled with less than twenty-four (24) hours' notice they shall receive time and one half (1 ½) of their regular straight time hourly rate for all hours worked on their next shift.

ARTICLE 19 - STANDBY PAY

19.01 <u>Standby</u>

An employee required to standby or remain available for call-back duty on other than regular scheduled hours shall be paid at the rate of three dollars and thirty cents (\$3.30) per hour of standby time.

If an employee is required to standby or remain available for callback duty on a paid holiday they shall be paid at the rate of four dollars and ninety cents (\$4.90) per hour.

ARTICLE 20 - CALL-BACK

20.01 Call Back

An employee who is called to work after leaving the Hospital premises and outside of their regular scheduled hours shall be paid a minimum of no less than four (4) hours' pay at time and one-half (1 1/2) their regular straight time hourly rate for work performed on each call-in. In the event that such four (4) hour period overlaps and extends into their regular shift they will receive the four (4) hour guarantee payment at time and one half (1½) and their regular hourly rate for the remaining hours of their regular shift. The reference to leaving the Hospital premises referred to above will not be applicable where an employee remains in the Hospital on standby arrangement with the Hospital.

For purposes of clarification, Article 20.01 does not apply to prescheduled hours of work. Article 20.01 does not apply where the employee elects to work additional unscheduled hours made available by the Hospital.

ARTICLE 21 - SHIFT AND WEEKEND PREMIUMS

21.01 <u>Shift Premium</u>

Effective upon ratification employees shall be paid a shift premium of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) per hour for all hours worked where the majority of their scheduled hours fall between 1500 and 0700 hours.

Effective April 1, 2024 - employees shall be paid a shift premium of one dollar and thirty cents (\$1.30) per hour for all hours worked where the majority of their scheduled hours fall between 1500 and 0700 hours.

21.02 <u>Weekend Premium</u>

Effective upon ratification employees shall be paid a weekend premium of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) per hour for

each hour worked between 2400 hours Friday to 2400 hours Sunday.

Effective April 1, 2024 employees shall be paid a weekend premium of one dollar and thirty cents (\$1.30) per hour for each hour worked between 2400 hours Friday to 2400 hours Sunday.

ARTICLE 22 - TRAINING

22.01 Where the Hospital requires an Employee to take an educational course to upgrade or acquire new employment qualifications such Employee shall not lose regular pay because of necessary absence from work due to participation in such course. The Hospital shall pay the full cost of such course in advance. The employee may apply to the Hospital for a reasonable advance to cover additional costs associated with the course.

ARTICLE 23 - RESPONSIBILITY PAY

23.01 Where the Hospital temporarily assigns an employee to carry out the assigned responsibilities of a higher paying classification inside or outside of the bargaining unit for a period of one shift or more, the employee shall receive an allowance of one dollar (\$1.00) per hour for each hour during the temporary assignment.

23.02 <u>Preceptor Pay</u>

(Effective September 1, 2019)

Registered Practical Nurses may be required, as part of their regular duties, to supervise activities of students. Nurses will be informed in writing of their responsibilities in relation to these students and will be provided with what the Hospital determines to be appropriate training. Any information that is provided by the Hospital by the educational institution with respect to the skill level of the students will be made available to the nurses recruited to supervise the students. Upon request, the Hospital will review the nurse's workload with the nurse and the student to facilitate the successful completion of the assignment.

When a nurse is assigned nursing student supervision duties, the Hospital will pay the nurse a premium of sixty cents (\$.60) per hour for all hours spent supervising nursing students.

ARTICLE 24 – NO PYRAMIDING

Premium payment (including both overtime and holiday payment) shall be calculated and paid under more than one provision of this Agreement only, even though hours worked may be premium payment hours under one provision. In such circumstances the highest premium will be applied.

ARTICLE 25 - PAID HOLIDAYS

25.01 List of Holidays

The following days are paid holidays under this Agreement:

| New Year's Day | Labour Day |
|---------------------|------------------|
| Good Friday | Thanksgiving Day |
| Victoria Day | Christmas Day |
| Canada Day (July 1) | Boxing Day |
| Civic Holiday | Family Day |

(a) In addition to the above named holidays, full-time employees, who have completed their probationary period, shall receive two (2) float holidays in that fiscal year. Staffs hired on or after December 15 are not eligible for any float holidays in that fiscal year. Float holidays cannot be accumulated and carried over to the subsequent fiscal year. Float holidays are to be scheduled at a mutually agreed time between the employee and the Hospital.

An employee may choose to use a floating holiday (as provided herein) for observance of the National Day for Truth and Reconciliation (September 30) subject to scheduling approval.

- (b) Part-time employees will not be entitled to the Civic Holiday.
- 25.02 Employees shall receive holiday pay in accordance with Employment Standards Act.

25.03 Holiday Pay Qualifiers

Holiday pay qualifiers for employees will be based on the provisions as set out in the *Employment Standards Act* for the fixed holidays listed above.

- 25.04 Any employee scheduled to work on a holiday, and who does not report for work, shall forfeit their holiday pay, unless the absence is due to illness verified by a medical doctor's certificate, in which case the employee will receive holiday pay provided the employee has otherwise qualified for holiday pay in accordance with Article 25.03 above.
- 25.05 Where a holiday falls during the employee's scheduled vacation period, their vacation shall be extended by one (1) day unless the employee and the Hospital agree to schedule a different day off with pay.
- 25.06 An employee required to work on any of the foregoing holidays shall be paid at the rate of time and one half (1½) their regular straight time hourly rate of pay for all hours worked on such holiday. In addition, they will receive holiday pay in accordance with this Article.

A shift that begins or ends during the twenty-four (24) hour period of the above holidays where the majority of hours worked falls within the holiday shall be deemed to be work performed on the holiday for the full period of the scheduled shift.

Where an employee is required to work overtime on such a holiday they shall be paid at the rate of two (2) times their regular straight time hourly rate for the overtime hours.

ARTICLE 26 - VACATIONS

26.01 The vacation year will be from April 1st through March 31st.

26.02 For Vacation from April 1st to September 30th

Employees are required to indicate preferred vacation time during this period by February 1st annually. Requests for time off during this period are processed and communicated by March 1st annually. Preference will be given based on seniority. If vacation requests are received after February 1st, they will be considered on a first come first served basis, not on the basis of seniority.

For Vacation from October 1st to the following March 31st

Employees are required to indicate preferred vacation time during this period by August 1st annually. Requests for time off during this period are processed and communicated by September 1st annually, with the exception of requests for the period of December 15th–January 15th which are processed as holiday service schedules are determined. Preference will be given based on seniority. If vacation requests are received after August 1st, they will be considered on a first come first served basis, not on the basis of seniority.

Preference shall be given to requests made for blocks of one week. Up to five (5) single shifts shall be approved if operationally feasible.

Where changes in scheduled vacation are permitted by the Employer, a senior employee will not be permitted to displace a junior employee whose vacation has been previously approved.

- 26.03 Employees can only take vacation after it has been earned and employees are expected to use vacation earned within the fiscal year. Under special circumstances with written approval from the Hospital, an employee may be allowed to accumulate up to one and one-half (1 ½) their annual accrual.
- 26.04 Vacation entitlements for full-time employees are based on continuous service and will be adjusted for unpaid absences in accordance with Article 12.05. Vacation entitlements for part-time and casual employees are based on hours worked. One year equals one thousand seven hundred and twenty five (1725) hours worked.

(<u>Note</u>: See L.O.U. for current employees)

Where an employee's scheduled vacation is interrupted due to bereavement, the employee will be entitled to bereavement leave. The portion of the employee's vacation which is deemed bereavement will not be charged to the employee's vacation credits provided the employee provides supporting evidence at the discretion of the manager

26.05 Full-time employees accrue vacation hours on a bi-weekly basis based on the table below. After the completion of the probationary period, full-time employees can request accumulated vacation days.

| Length of Service | Accumulation of Hours | Annual Equivalent |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| Date of hire but less than 2 years | 2.88 hours bi-weekly | 2 Weeks |
| 2 years but less than 5 years | 4.33 hours bi-weekly | 3 Weeks |
| 5 years but less than 12 years | 5.77 hours bi-weekly | 4 Weeks |
| 12 years but less than 20 years | 7.21 hours bi-weekly | 5 Weeks |
| 20 years but less than 28 years | 8.65 hours bi-weekly | 6 Weeks |
| 28 years or more | 10.10 hours bi-weekly | 7 Weeks |

26.06 Part-time employees, including casuals, shall be paid a percentage of earnings on a bi-weekly basis in accordance with the table below.

| Length of Service | Percentage of Earnings |
|------------------------------------|------------------------|
| Date of hire but less than 2 years | 4% |

| 2 years but less than 5years | 6% |
|---------------------------------|-----|
| 5 years but less than 12 years | 8% |
| 12 years but less than 20 years | 10% |
| 20 years but less than 28 years | 12% |
| 28 years or more | 14% |

ARTICLE 27- HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS

- 27.01 The Hospital agrees, during the term of the Collective Agreement, to contribute towards the premium coverage of participating eligible full-time and regular part-time employees in the active employ of the Hospital under the insurance plans set out below subject to their respective terms and conditions including any enrolment requirements.
 - (a) The Hospital agrees to pay seventy five percent (75%) of the billed premium for employees towards coverage of the Hospital Extended Health Care plan currently in effect or comparable coverage with another carrier.
 - (b) The Hospital agrees to pay seventy five percent (75%) of the billed premium for employees towards coverage of the Hospital Dental Care plan currently in effect or comparable coverage with another carrier.
 - (c) The Hospital agrees to contribute one hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium for employees towards coverage of the Hospital Life Insurance plan currently in effect or comparable coverage with another carrier.
 - (d) A copy of all current master policies of the benefits referred to in this Article shall be provided to the Union upon request.

27.02 <u>Early Retirees</u>

The Hospital will provide equivalent coverage to all employees who retire early and have not yet reached age sixty-five (65) and who are in receipt of the Hospital's pension plan benefits on the same basis as is provided to active employees for semi-private, extended health care and dental benefits. The Hospital will contribute the same portion towards the billed premiums of these benefits plans as is currently contributed by the Hospital to the billed premiums of active employees.

27.03 It is understood that the Hospital may at any time substitute another carrier for any plan (other than O.H.I.P.) provided the benefits conferred thereby are not in total decreased. Before making such substitution the Hospital shall notify the Union to explain the proposed change and to ascertain the views of the employees.

27.04 Pension

All full-time employees shall enroll in the Hospital's pension plan (HOOPP) subject to its terms and conditions. Regular part-time and casual employees may enroll in the plan when eligible in accordance with its terms and conditions.

27.05 <u>Vision Care</u>

Vision care coverage shall be three hundred dollars (\$300) every twenty-four (24) months. Effective October 1, 2022 this coverage will increase to three hundred and fifty dollars \$350 every twenty-four (24) months.

27.06 <u>EHC</u>

There will be an increase to \$350 per calendar year for the following: Osteopathy, Podiatrist/Chiropodist (combined), Psychologist/Social Worker (combined) and Speech Language Pathologist.

Extended health care coverage will be \$350 per calendar year for the following:

- Osteopathy
- Pod/Chiro (combined)

ARTICLE 28 - CONTRACTING OUT

28.01 The Hospital shall not contract out any work usually performed by members of the bargaining unit if, as a result of such contracting out a layoff of any employee other than casual part-time employees results from such contracting out.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Hospital may contract out work usually performed by members of the bargaining unit without such contracting out constituting a breach of this provision if the Hospital provides in its commercial arrangement contracting out the work that the contractor to whom the work is being contracted and any subsequent such contractor agrees:

- (1) to employ the employees thus displaced from the Hospital; and
- (2) in doing so to stand with respect to that work in place of the Hospital for the purposes of the Hospital's collective agreement with the Union and to execute into an agreement with the Union to that effect.

In order to ensure compliance with this provision the Hospital agrees that it will withdraw the work from any contractor who has failed to meet the aforementioned items of the contracting out arrangement.

28.02 <u>Contracting In</u>

The parties agree that the Redeployment Committee will immediately undertake a review of any existing sub-contract work which would otherwise be bargaining unit work and which may be subject to expiry and open for negotiation within six (6) months, with a view to assessing the practicality and cost-effectiveness of having such work performed within the Hospital by members of the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 29 - COMPENSATION

- 29.01 Attached to this Agreement is Schedule "A".
- 29.02 When a new classification in the bargaining unit is established by the Hospital, or the Hospital makes a substantial change in the job content of an existing classification, the Hospital shall advise the Union of such new or substantially changed classification and the rate of pay which is established. If so requested within thirty (30)

calendar days of such advice, the Hospital agrees to meet with the Union to permit the Union to make representations with respect to the appropriate rate of pay, providing any such meetings shall not delay the implementation of the new or substantially changed classification. Where the Union challenges the rate established by the Hospital and the matter is not resolved following the meeting with the Union, the matter may be referred to arbitration in accordance with the arbitration provisions contained in this collective agreement, it being understood that any arbitration board shall be limited to establishing an appropriate rate based on the relationship existing among other classifications within the Hospital and the duties and responsibilities involved. It is further understood and agreed that when determining the appropriate rate, primacy must be given to the relationship between job classifications covered by this collective agreement and that such relativity must be maintained. Each change in the rate established by the Hospital either through meetings with the Union or by a Board of Arbitration shall be retroactive from the time at which the new or substantially changed classification was first filled.

29.03 <u>Job Descriptions</u>

A copy of the current job description for a bargaining unit position shall be made available to the union. if a job description is changed or modified, the Union will be informed and provided with a copy of the revised job description.

29.04 Part-time and casual employees will accumulate service for purposes of progression on the salary grid, on the basis of one year of service for each one thousand seven hundred and twenty-five (1725) hours worked.

Notwithstanding this provision, the calculation of service for purposes of progression on the salary grid will include service accrued during a pregnancy leave or parental leave.

(Note: See L.O.U. for current employees)

29.05 <u>Recognition of Experience</u> - (for RPN's, CPD Technician's and Red Seal Cooks only)

An employee hired by the Hospital with recent and related experience may claim consideration for such experience at the time of hiring on a form to be supplied by the Hospital. Any such claim shall be accompanied by verification of previous related experience. The Hospital shall then evaluate such experience during the probationary period following hiring. Where in the opinion of the Hospital such experience is determined to be relevant, the employee shall be slotted in that step of the wage progression consistent with one (1) years' experience service for every one (1) year of related experience in the classification upon completion of the employee's probationary period. It is understood and agreed that the foregoing shall not constitute a violation of the wage schedule under the collective agreement.

ARTICLE 30 - GENERAL

30.01 Contact Information

It shall be the duty of each employee to notify the Hospital promptly of any changes in address or any change in temporary residency. If an employee fails to do this, the Hospital will not be responsible for failure of a notice sent by registered mail to reach such employee. An employee shall notify the Hospital of any change to their telephone number.

30.02 Cost of Printing

The Union and the Hospital shall equally bear the cost of printing the collective agreement that is negotiated by the parties.

30.03 Bulletin Boards

The Hospital shall provide bulletin boards for posting of Union notices in the agreed to locations. Notices of Union activity may be placed on the Union bulletin board by the Union. Notices will be forwarded to the Director of Human Resource Services for approval prior to being posted.

30.04 Uniforms

The Hospital will provide to employees uniforms when employees are required by the Hospital to wear uniforms.

30.05 <u>Safety Shoes</u>

The Hospital will provide one hundred and twenty dollars (\$120.00) per calendar year to each full-time and eighty dollars (\$80.00) per calendar year to each regular part-time employee who is required by the Hospital to wear safety footwear during the course of their duties.

Effective January 1, 2023 – increase to \$135/annum for full-time employees and \$90/annum for part-time employees

Effective January 1, 2024 – increase to \$150/annum for full-time employees and \$100/annum for part-time employees

30.06 Travel

Employees required to travel for the Hospital shall be compensated at the corporate kilometric rate.

30.07 Persons excluded from the bargaining unit shall not perform duties normally performed by employees in the bargaining unit which shall directly cause or result in the lay-off or reduction in hours of work of an employee in the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 31 – PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

The following clauses are applicable to Registered Practical Nurses only)

31.01 Professional Responsibility, Patient Care, Workloads & Staffing

- (a) The parties agree that optimal patient care is, and safe working conditions are, enhanced if concerns relating to professional responsibility, patient care, workloads and staffing issues are resolved in a timely and effective manner with communications between the parties being:
 - (i) professional;
 - (ii) courteous;
 - (iii) collegial;
 - (iv) respectful; and
 - (v) focused on resolving the issue, not on the individuals.
- (b) Employees are encouraged to raise their concerns with their immediate supervisor within forty-eight (48) hours.
- (c) In the event that an employee or group of employees, covered under the Regulated Health Professions Act (RHPA) are assigned a workload which is inconsistent with proper patient care, they shall express their concerns to their supervisor. The employee shall complete a "Workload Review Form" which shall be provided

to the Manager and to the Union. The Workload Review form will be attached as Appendix "A" to this collective agreement.

- (d) The Manager shall have five (5) working days to provide a response in writing.
- (e) If the matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee or group of employees, they may submit their concerns to the Labour-Management Committee.
- 31.02 A nurse is required to present to the Hospital on or before February 15th of each year, evidence that their Certificate of Registration is in good standing and currently in effect. Such time will be extended for reasons where the College of Nurses of Ontario permits the nurse's Certificate of Registration to remain in effect. If the nurse's Certificate of Registration is suspended by the College of Nurses of Ontario for non-payment of the annual fee, the nurse will be place on a non-disciplinary suspension without If the nurse presents evidence that their Certificate of pav. Registration has been reinstated, they shall be reinstated to their position effective upon presenting such evidence. Failure to provide evidence within 90 Calendar days of the nurse being placed on non-disciplinary suspension by the hospital will result in the nurse being deemed to be no longer gualified and the nurse shall be terminated from the employ of the Hospital. Such termination shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration. Where the Hospital uses the College of Nurses of Ontario automated registration process, it is understood that such date may be later than the usual registration date.

Note: where an employee is in a position other than in a registered nursing position with duties and responsibilities which are subject to the *Regulated Health Professions Act*, they shall be treated in a manner consistent with this Article.

31.03 Professional Development/Scope of Practice

Continuous professional development is a hallmark of professional nursing practice. As a self-regulating profession, nursing recognizes the importance of maintaining a dynamic practice environment which includes ongoing learning, the maintenance of competence, career development, career counselling and succession planning. The parties agree that professional development includes a diverse range of activities, including but not limited to formal academic programs; short-term continuing education activities; certification programs; independent learning and committee participation. The parties recognize their joint responsibility in and commitment to active participation in the area of professional development, including scope of practice.

The parties will be guided by the following key principles:

- Professional development will be recognized;
- All Registered Practical Nurses will have access to professional development opportunities;
- Responsibilities for professional development will be shared between the individual and the Hospital;
- Employee needs, Hospital needs and department/program requirements will be considered.

ARTICLE 32 - DURATION AND RENEWAL

32.01 This Agreement shall continue in effect until September 30, 2024 and shall continue automatically thereafter for annual periods of one year each unless no more than ninety (90) days prior to the expiry date, either party notifies the other in writing that it intends to amend or terminate this Agreement.

Dated at ______ this _____ day of ______ 2022.

FOR THE UNION

FOR THE HOSPITAL

RE: PART-TIME CONVERSION FOR SERVICE AND SENIORITY

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the collective agreement, any regular part-time employees who are employed by the Hospital on March 31, 2006 will maintain their existing seniority and service levels on the basis of one thousand five hundred (1500) hours = one (1) year, and will continue to accrue on the same one thousand five hundred (1500) hours = one (1) year.

| Dated at | _ this | _ day of | _ 2022. |
|----------------|--------|-------------------|---------|
| | | | |
| FOR THE UNION: | | FOR THE HOSPITAL: | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

RE: JOB SHARING

It is agreed that a full-time job may be shared by two (2) employees on the following basis:

Job sharing requests with regards to full-time positions shall be considered on an individual basis.

Where the job sharing arrangement arises out of a vacant full-time position, both job sharing positions must be posted and selection based on the criteria set out in the Collective Agreement. An incumbent full-time employee wishing to share their position may do so without having their position posted. However, the other half of the job shared position must be posted and selection based on the criteria set out in the Collective Agreement.

If one of the job sharers leaves the arrangement, their position will be posted. If there is no successful applicant to the position, the shared position must revert to a full-time position. The remaining employee will have the option of continuing in the full-time position or another part-time position. If they do not continue full-time, the position must be posted according to the Collective Agreement.

All job sharers shall be treated as regular part-time employees and be subject to the provisions of the Collective Agreement except for scheduling which shall be in accordance with the full-time scheduling provisions of the Collective Agreement.

Total hours worked by the job sharers shall equal one (1) full-time position. The division of these hours on the schedule shall be determined by mutual agreement between the two (2) staff members and the immediate supervisor.

Each job sharer may exchange shifts with their partner.

<u>Coverage</u>

It is expected that both job sharers will cover each other's incidental illnesses. If because of unavoidable circumstances, one (1) cannot cover the other, the immediate Supervisor must be notified to book coverage.

Vacation, Pregnancy Leave and Other Leaves

In the event that one (1) member of the job sharing arrangement goes on any of the above Leaves of Absence, the coverage will be negotiated with the immediate Supervisor, but it is hoped that the remaining member of the position would be prepared to cover the Leave of Absence.

Discontinuation

Either the Union or the Hospital may discontinue the job sharing arrangement with ninety (90) days written notice. Upon receipt of such notice, a meeting shall be held between the parties with fifteen (15) days to discuss the discontinuation. It is understood and agreed that such discontinuation shall not be unreasonable or arbitrary.

| Dated at | this | day of | 2022. |
|----------------|------|-------------------|-------|
| | | | |
| FOR THE UNION: | | FOR THE HOSPITAL: | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

RE: UNION RESOURCES

The Hospital agrees to provide the Union with the following resources:

- 1. Union office.
- 2. Access to the meeting room system through the Human Resources Department. The Union can request a room for union business within the parameters of the Collective Agreement. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 3. Issues arising out of this process can be discussed at Labour/Management meetings.

| Dated at | this | day of | 2022. |
|----------------|------|--------|-------------------|
| FOR THE UNION: | | | FOR THE HOSPITAL: |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

RE: LOCAL HEALTH INTEGRATION NETWORKS

The parties agree that any Ontario Health initiative that will have a direct impact on the members of the bargaining unit may be raised through the Fiscal Advisory Committee.

| Dated at | this | day of | 2022. |
|----------------|----------|-------------------|-------|
| | | | |
| FOR THE UNION: | | FOR THE HOSPITAL: | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | <u> </u> | | |
| | | | |

RE: CODE OF CONDUCT

The parties agree that bullying and psychological harassment constitute inappropriate behaviour in the workplace, and are behaviours which, among others, are inconsistent with the Hospital's Code of Conduct.

| Dated at | _ this | day of | 2022. |
|----------------|--------|--------|-------------------|
| | | | |
| FOR THE UNION: | | | FOR THE HOSPITAL: |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| - | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| · | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

RE: RPN WAGE RATES

In the event that the provincial working groups between the Participating Hospitals and CUPE/SEIU discussing the feasibility of a provincial or common RPN wage rate arrive at a joint recommendation prior to the expiry of the current collective agreement, the parties will meet to discuss the implications for future negotiations.

| Dated at | this | day of | 2022. |
|----------------|------|------------------|-------|
| | | | |
| | | | |
| FOR THE UNION: | | FOR THE HOSPITAL | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

RE: BILL 124

In the event that Protecting a Sustainable Public Sector for Future Generations Act, 2019 (Bill 124) is declared unconstitutional, in whole or in part, or is otherwise repealed, amended or rendered inoperative, the parties agree to return to the bargaining table to renegotiate all issues affected by Bill 124.

| Dated at | _ this | _day of | 2022. |
|----------------|--------|---------|------------------|
| | | | |
| FOR THE UNION: | | | FOR THE HOSPITAL |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

RE: STAFF SCHEDULING

A meeting will be convened with the LMC within sixty (60) days of ratification or the date of award to discuss guidelines utilized by Staff Scheduling.

| Dated at | this | day of | 2022. |
|----------------|------|--------|------------------|
| FOR THE UNION: | | | FOR THE HOSPITAL |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

RE: GENDER NEUTRAL LANGUAGE

The parties agree to undertake a process of review to make necessary changes to implement gender neutral language throughout the collective agreement. It is agreed that this process will start with a proposed draft renewal agreement that includes amendments agreed or awarded in the current round of negotiations as well as amendments to reflect gender neutral language. The employer will reply confirming its agreement with the proposed changes or identifying concerns or alternative suggestions. This process shall not extend beyond sixty (60) days following ratification or the date of award. Failure to complete this process within sixty (60) days shall not delay implementation of the renewal agreement and in the event that more time is required, the process will proceed during the term of the collective agreement with these commitments articulated as a Letter of Understanding between the parties.

| Dated at | this | day of | 2022. |
|----------------|------|--------|------------------|
| FOR THE UNION: | | | FOR THE HOSPITAL |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT–WITH RESPECT TO EXTENDED TOUR ARRANGEMENTS

Between: The Ontario Public Service Employees Union, Local 374

And

Mackenzie Health

Article 1 – Work Unit and Employees Covered

(Detailed and specific description of department and employees covered.)

Article 2 – Hours of Work

- 2.1 The Normal or standard extended work day shall be 11.25 hours per day exclusive of unpaid meal breaks.
- 2.2 (Detailed description with an attached schedule where appropriate.)

<u>Article 3 – Overtime</u>

- 3.01 Overtime shall be defined as being all hours worked in excess of the normal or standard extended day, as set out in Article 2.1 above, or in excess of the normal or standard work week in the collective agreement averaged over a six (6) week period.
- 3.02 For purposes of overtime the hours of work per week shall be averaged over six (6) weeks.

Article 4 – Rest Periods

4.01 Employees shall be entitled, subject to the exigencies of patient care, to relief periods during the shift on the basis of 15 (fifteen) minutes for each three and three quarter (3.75) hours worked.

Article 5 – Meal Periods

5.01 The employee will receive one unpaid meal period of forty-five (45) minutes.

Article 6 – Sick Leave and Long-Term Disability

(Applicable to Full-Time Employees Only)

6.01 The short-term sick leave plan will provide payment for the number of hours of absence according to the scheduled tour to a total of 562.6 hours. All other provisions of the existing plan shall apply to mutatis mutandis.

Article 7 – Vacation

(Applicable to Full-Time Employees Only)

7.01 Vacation entitlement as set out in Article 26 will be converted to hours on the basis of the employee's normal work week.

<u>Discontinuance</u>

Either party may, on written notice of six (6) weeks to the other party, terminate this Agreement.

General Issues

For the purposes of the bereavement leave provision, employees under this extended tour arrangement will be able to access the full bereavement leave provision.

Notwithstanding the maximum bank for lieu time contained in the collective agreement, employees under this extended tour arrangements will be able to bank a maximum of twenty-two and one-half (22 ½) hours. All other aspects of the provision shall apply.

| Dated at | this | day of | 2022. |
|----------|------|--------|-------|
|----------|------|--------|-------|

FOR THE UNION

FOR THE HOSPITAL

APPENDIX "A"

WORKLOAD REVIEW FORM

Employees to complete every section

Date/Time of Occurrence:

Date Form Submitted to Hospital:

Department/Unit

Site/Location

Type of Work Being Performed

Usual Number of Staff on Duty

Number of Staff on Duty

I/We the undersigned, believe that I was/we were given an assignment that was excessive or inconsistent with quality patient care and/or created an unsafe working environment for the following reasons. (Provide brief description of problem/assignment below):

To correct this problem, I/we recommended:

| Name/Title of Manager Notified | I. |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Date/Time of Notification | |
| Response: | |
| | |
| | |
| Signature of Employee(s) & Pri | nted Name(s) on Line below: |
| Printed Name | Signature |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

I/we do not agree with the resolution of my concern.

MACKENZIE HEALTH OPSEU

October 1, 2021 – 1%

October 1, 2022 - 1%

October 1, 2023 - 1%

| Job Title | Level 1 | Level 2 | Level 3 | Level 4 | Level 5 | Level 6 | Level 7 |
|------------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Carpet Floor Car | re Specialist | | | | | | |
| Current | \$22.36 | \$22.80 | \$23.20 | \$23.57 | \$23.98 | \$24.40 | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$22.58 | \$23.03 | \$23.44 | \$23.81 | \$24.22 | \$24.64 | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.81 | \$23.26 | \$23.67 | \$24.05 | \$24.47 | \$24.89 | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$23.04 | \$23.49 | \$23.91 | \$24.29 | \$24.71 | \$25.14 | |
| Client Support A | Assistant | | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 | |
| Cook | | | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 | |
| Cook - Non Red | Seal | | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.52 | \$22.32 | \$23.08 | \$23.87 | \$24.62 | \$25.43 | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.74 | \$22.54 | \$23.31 | \$24.11 | \$24.87 | \$25.68 | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$21.96 | \$22.77 | \$23.55 | \$24.35 | \$25.12 | \$25.94 | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.17 | \$22.99 | \$23.78 | \$24.59 | \$25.37 | \$26.20 | |

| MDR Technici | an II | | | | | |
|-----------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| | | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.88 | \$22.69 | \$23.44 | \$24.22 | \$24.98 | \$25.78 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$22.10 | \$22.92 | \$23.67 | \$24.46 | \$25.23 | \$26.04 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.32 | \$23.15 | \$23.91 | \$24.71 | \$25.48 | \$26.30 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.54 | \$23.38 | \$24.15 | \$24.95 | \$25.74 | \$26.56 |
| Day Surgery A | ssistant | | | - | | - |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 |
| Dialysis Assist | ant | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 |
| Dialysis Satell | ite Associate | | | 1 | 1 | |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 |
| Environmenta | I Associate | | | L | l | |
| Current | \$21.33 | \$21.74 | \$22.12 | \$22.54 | \$22.92 | \$23.30 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.54 | \$21.96 | \$22.34 | \$22.77 | \$23.15 | \$23.53 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$21.76 | \$22.18 | \$22.56 | \$23.00 | \$23.38 | \$23.77 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$21.97 | \$22.40 | \$22.79 | \$23.23 | \$23.62 | \$24.01 |

| Food Service A | Attendant | | | | | |
|----------------|-----------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| | | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.33 | \$21.74 | \$22.12 | \$22.54 | \$22.92 | \$23.30 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.54 | \$21.96 | \$22.34 | \$22.77 | \$23.15 | \$23.53 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$21.76 | \$22.18 | \$22.56 | \$23.00 | \$23.38 | \$23.77 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$21.97 | \$22.40 | \$22.79 | \$23.23 | \$23.62 | \$24.01 |
| Host-Hostess | | | | I | | |
| Current | \$21.33 | \$21.74 | \$22.12 | \$22.54 | \$22.92 | \$23.30 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.54 | \$21.96 | \$22.34 | \$22.77 | \$23.15 | \$23.53 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$21.76 | \$22.18 | \$22.56 | \$23.00 | \$23.38 | \$23.77 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$21.97 | \$22.40 | \$22.79 | \$23.23 | \$23.62 | \$24.01 |
| ICU Assistant | - | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 |
| Instrument Te | chnician | | | I | I | |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 |
| O.R. Assistant | | 1 | | 1 | 1 | |
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 |

| Patient Care A | Assistant | | | | | | |
|----------------|---------------|----------|---------|---------|---------|---------|--|
| Current | \$21.68 | \$22.48 | \$23.24 | \$24.02 | \$24.78 | \$25.58 | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.89 | \$22.71 | \$23.47 | \$24.26 | \$25.02 | \$25.84 | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.11 | \$22.94 | \$23.70 | \$24.50 | \$25.27 | \$26.10 | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.33 | \$23.16 | \$23.94 | \$24.75 | \$25.53 | \$26.36 | |
| Registered Pr | actical Nurse | | | | | | |
| Current | \$29.19 | \$29.91 | \$30.63 | \$31.39 | | | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$29.48 | \$30.21 | \$30.94 | \$31.71 | | | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$29.78 | \$30.51 | \$31.25 | \$32.02 | | | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$30.07 | \$30.81 | \$31.56 | \$32.34 | | | |
| Service Assist | ant | I | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.33 | \$21.74 | \$22.12 | \$22.54 | \$22.92 | \$23.30 | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.54 | \$21.96 | \$22.34 | \$22.77 | \$23.15 | \$23.53 | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$21.76 | \$22.18 | \$22.56 | \$23.00 | \$23.38 | \$23.77 | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$21.97 | \$22.40 | \$22.79 | \$23.23 | \$23.62 | \$24.01 | |
| Storekeeper F | ood Services | | | I | | | |
| Current | \$22.15 | \$22.58 | \$22.99 | \$23.41 | \$23.81 | | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$22.37 | \$22.80 | \$23.22 | \$23.65 | \$24.05 | | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$22.60 | \$23.03 | \$23.45 | \$23.88 | \$24.29 | | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$22.82 | \$23.26 | \$23.68 | \$24.12 | \$24.53 | | |
| Transporter | | 1 | | | | | |
| Current | \$21.33 | \$21.74 | \$22.12 | \$22.54 | \$22.92 | \$23.30 | |
| Oct 1 2021 | \$21.54 | \$21.96 | \$22.34 | \$22.77 | \$23.15 | \$23.53 | |
| Oct 1 2022 | \$21.76 | \$22.18 | \$22.56 | \$23.00 | \$23.38 | \$23.77 | |
| Oct 1 2023 | \$21.97 | \$22.40 | \$22.79 | \$23.23 | \$23.62 | \$24.01 | |